IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HUMANA OF FLORIDA, INC.,)	
d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL-BENNETT,)		
n/k/a COLUMBIA HOSPITAL)		CASE NO.: SC01-1260
CORPORATION OF SOUTH BROWARD,)	
d/b/a WESTSIDE REGIONAL)		
MEDICAL CENTER,)		DISTRICT COURT
)		CASE NO.: 4D00-654
Defendant/Petitioner,)		
V.)		
)		
JACOB THOMAS TOMLIAN, a minor,)		
by and through his parents and)		
natural guardians,)		
DORA LEE TOMLIAN, and)		
KEVIN JAMES TOMLIAN; and)	
DORA LEE TOMLIAN and)		
KEVIN JAMES TOMLIAN, individually	,)	
)		
Plaintiffs/Respondents,)		
V.)		
)		
MARK S. GRENITZ, M.D.; and)		
MARK S. GRENITZ, M.D., P.A.;)		
)		
Defendants/Respondents.)		
)		

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, reference to the record will be designated by the volume number, followed by the letter "R" and the specific page number being cited. Defendant Columbia Hospital Corporation of South Broward, Inc., d/b/a Westside Regional Medical Center (formerly Humana of Florida, Inc., d/b/a Human Hospital-Bennett), will be referred to as the "Hospital." All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The minor plaintiff Jacob Tomlian suffers from cerebral palsy as a result of an injury to his brain. His parents filed this medical malpractice case against the Hospital where he was born and the doctor who delivered him, claiming that the injury to his brain was caused by negligence in connection with Jacob's birth. The defendants contended that there was no negligence. They also contended that Jacob's brain injury occurred in utero long before birth, and was not caused by any actions they took.

The trial of this case lasted almost four weeks and culminated in a jury verdict for the defendants, Mark Grenitz, M.D., Mark Grenitz, M.D., P.A. and the Hospital. (8R 1408-1410). There was never any dispute at trial that Jacob Tomlian had significant brain injury. Instead, the Tomlians' burden of proof at trial turned upon two disputed points, (1) whether the defendants were negligent in connection with Jacob's delivery, and (2) whether any such negligence was the cause of Jacob's injury or whether, in fact, his injury had occurred much earlier during the course of his mother's pregnancy. (see, e.g., 38R 4217).

As the Tomlians' trial counsel acknowledged, these two distinct issues as to negligence and as to timing/causation were "lumped together" in one question on the verdict form.

(8R 1408-1410; 38R 4217). As to each defendant, the verdict form simply asked whether there was any negligence by that defendant that was a legal cause of injury to Jacob or his parents. (8R 1408-1410). Plaintiffs did not request that the trial court employ a verdict form that separated the negligence and timing/causation questions, even though those were hotly contested, separate theories of defense at trial. (38R 4151, 4160).

In determining the elements of (1) negligence and (2) timing/causation, the jury heard testimony during the Tomlians' case-in-chief from Jacob's family, his teachers, his treating physicians, and three retained experts: an obstetrician, a pediatric neurologist, and a neuropsychologist. The defense offered the testimony of the nurse and doctor accused of negligence and the opinions of three defense experts: a nursing expert for the Hospital and two physician experts in obstetrics and pediatric neurology to counter the Tomlians' experts in the same specialties. Unlike the Tomlians, the defense did not have a neuropsychologist.

Dr. Vannucci, a pediatric neurologist who was the defendants' causation expert, testified that the events surrounding the labor and delivery were unrelated to Jacob's neurological problems; rather, these problems were due to oxygen deprivation that took place sometime between twenty-six

and thirty-four weeks into the pregnancy. (<u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, 24R 2247, 2295).

Likewise, the defendants' standard of care expert, Dr. Hayashi, an obstetrician with a sub-specialty in maternal-fetal medicine (which focuses on high-risk pregnancies and genetic testing (29R 2922-2923)), conducted a detailed review of the medical records before the jury and concluded that Dr. Grenitz and the Hospital's nurses did not deviate from the standard of care in their treatment of Jacob and his mother. (see, e.g., 29R 2964; 30R 3019). Comparable opinions on the standard of care were provided by the Hospital's nursing expert, Lisa Miller, R.N., with regard to the conduct of the Hospital's nurses attending the delivery. (33R 3530-34R 3739). Nurse Miller did not testify as to timing/causation. (33R 3530-34R 3739).

In sum, Dr. Grenitz and the Hospital had only one expert, a pediatric neurologist, testify as to the causation and timing of Jacob's injury (Dr. Vannucci). On the standard of care issue, they presented both an obstetrician (Dr. Hayashi) to testify as to Dr. Grenitz's care and treatment, and a nursing expert (Lisa Miller) to testify as to the separate standard of care that applied to the Hospital's nurses.

In contrast, all three of plaintiffs' experts, Paul Gatewood, M.D., Lawrence Schneck, M.D. and Barry Crown, Ph.D.,

addressed the issue of timing/causation and opined that Jacob Tomlian was injured during labor and delivery. One expert, Dr. Gatewood, also opined that it was the result of negligence.

Dr. Gatewood, the Tomlians' expert obstetrician, was their first witness. He agreed that Dr. Grenitz's prenatal care was acceptable and above the standard of care. (20R 1776). He testified, however, that Dr. Grenitz and the attending nurse deviated from the standard of care in their treatment of Jacob and his mother during the labor and delivery. (16R 1169-1176).

Dr. Gatewood also stated that the cause of Jacob's injuries was several hours of unnecessary episodes of hypoxia, resulting in decreased oxygenation, because of the failure to perform the caesarean-section at an earlier time. (16R 1067-69, 1169-1211; 19R 1558). Thus, Dr. Gatewood testified about the timing and causation of Jacob's injury, as well as the breaches of the standard of care during the labor and delivery.

After Dr. Gatewood's testimony concluded, the Tomlians called Dr. Schneck, a neurologist who served as another causation expert for plaintiffs and discussed, in detail, all of Jacob's neurological problems, and the tests and procedures utilized by Dr. Schneck to reach his conclusions about Jacob's

condition and its causes. (17R 1280-1293). Dr. Schneck testified that Jacob's injuries were all caused by brain damage, specifically, a perinatal (around the time of birth) hypoxic ischemic event. (17R 1293-1294). Despite conceding that such a brain injury can take place at any time during the later stages of pregnancy, Dr. Schneck nevertheless opined that Jacob's injuries occurred during labor. (17R 1324, 1332; 18R 1370; 19R 1514). Thus, as a causation expert for plaintiffs, Dr. Schneck testified not only about the general cause of Jacob's injuries, but also about what the Tomlians contend is the central issue in the case: the timing of those injuries.

The Tomlians then presented their third expert, Dr. Crown, a neuropsychologist. Counsel for Dr. Grenitz and the Hospital objected, in limine, to causation testimony from Dr. Crown for a number of reasons. (21R 1832-1866). First, at the time of this trial in 1998, Florida case law clearly precluded a neuropsychologist, as a non-physician, from testifying as to causation of organic brain injury. (21R 1835-1837, 1842-1844, 1850-1852, 1861).

Second, apart from the governing legal standard, defendants argued the "common sense" point that Dr. Crown did not have the credentials to offer this type of testimony.

(21R 1838). Specifically, defendants argued that opining

whether an injury to the brain is consistent with an hypoxic event such as that alleged in this case was outside the expertise even of most medical doctors who are not pediatric neurologists. (21R 1838).

In voir dire examination, Dr. Crown had acknowledged that he was not a medical doctor, had never gone to medical school, and could not prescribe medications in Florida. (21R 1850-51). As a neuropsychologist, his area of expertise centered on "how the brain works, how it functions, and how that relates to behavior." (21R 1868). His testimony on his educational background was limited to a general discussion of his degrees and appointments. Although he testified that his practice included establishing the "etiology," or cause, of a patient's condition, (21R 1879, 1904, 1905-06; 22R 1968), he did not testify that his practice and experience extended to determining the cause of organic brain damage, much less to determining whether such damage occurred in utero at or near the time of birth or earlier. (Id.).

Third, in the light of the causation testimony already presented on plaintiffs' behalf by Drs. Gatewood and Schneck, Dr. Crown's testimony was merely cumulative. (21R 1832-1837, 1861).

Defense counsel did not dispute that Dr. Crown could testify to the extensive testing he had conducted on Jacob and the results of that testing. (21R 1841, 1863-1865). The defense merely sought, on all the grounds noted above, to exclude medical causation testimony from Dr. Crown that Jacob's injuries occurred during labor and delivery, as opposed to earlier in the pregnancy. (21R 1857-1858, 1864-1865).

In response, the Tomlians' trial counsel effectively conceded that this causation testimony was cumulative, by acknowledging that their other experts had already testified "as to the causation of the injury." (21R 1839). He further stated that Dr. Crown's testimony would focus on (1) Jacob's future psychological complications, and (2) Jacob's future psychological needs, and that Dr. Crown would not offer any opinion whether the caesarean-section should have been performed at an earlier time. (21R 1846-1847, 1865).

The trial court ruled only that, "I just don't want him to get into the same things that we have had--not until he's laid a proper predicate and they've had a chance to check any conclusions that he might reach." (21R 1866). Thus, the court did not exclude Dr. Crown's testimony altogether or otherwise limit it at that time, other than to require a proper predicate for particular opinions.

Dr. Crown then proceeded to give the jury a detailed explanation of the testing performed on Jacob and the results of those tests. (21R 1883-1900). He testified, for example, that he looked at Jacob's brain and behavior in order to evaluate his ability to process information and concentrate, and to assess his strengths and weaknesses. (21R 1885). Dr. Crown further opined that he could tell from these various tests, and the "scattered" results, that Jacob's injuries resulted from organic brain damage brought about by an oxygen deprivation. (21R 1902-1903).

Then, counsel proceeded to elicit from Dr. Crown, in front of the jury, exactly the medical causation testimony challenged in defendants' motion in limine:

- Q. You mentioned before the term 'etiology'.
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you mentioned that's something you do in the course of your practice typically?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you told us all why?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you form opinions in this case as to the etiology of Jacob's condition?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Tell us, please.

- A: It's my opinion that that damage that I see

 neuropsychologically was brought about by an oxygen

 deprivation experienced at the intrapartum level or in

 the neonatal period.
- Q. An intrapartum means what, sir?
- A. At birth.

(21R 1904-05). At this point, the Tomlians' counsel asked the following question, which was objected to because of Dr.

Crown's lack of qualifications:

Q. How can you tell it didn't happen some months before.

MS. TALISMAN: Objection.

MR. MAURO: Your Honor, this goes well beyond this gentleman's qualifications that we argued outside the presence of the

jury.

THE COURT: Sustain the objection.

(21R 1905).

The Tomlians' counsel then asked Dr. Crown a couple questions about the importance of "etiology," and continued as follows:

- Q. How was it that you came to a determination of etiology in this case and ruled out other etiologies?
- A. I reviewed records, and in addition, I evaluated this young man, and his pattern and profile from my experience indicates the cluster that he falls within.
- Q. What does 'rule out' mean?
- A. Ruling out something means that you consider something and determine whether, in fact, it fits or it doesn't, whether it's true.
- Q. And, if you rule it out, what does it mean as to whether it fits or is true?

- A. If you rule out a condition, you have considered it and you have discharged it.
- Q. And in coming to your conclusion as to the etiology of Jacob's condition, what etiologies did you rule out?

 (21R 1906). The defense objected to any attempt by Dr. Crown to give further medical causation testimony. {Id.}. At that point, even the Tomlians' trial counsel admitted that Dr.

 Crown had already offered his opinions on timing and causation, stating, "[h]e's already done that." (21R 1907).

 The trial court similarly recognized that the causation/timing testimony had already been given to the jury when it stated:

 "[t]he Court should not have allowed him to testify as to the physical cause or contributions to the cause of damage." (22R 1973-1974). However, this testimony was given, it was never stricken, and it remained before the jury.

Following the completion of Dr. Crown's testimony, the Tomlians proffered the testimony they asserted had not been permitted by the trial court. (22R 1967-1972). In fact, because Dr. Crown had already testified that Jacob's injury resulted from events at the time of his birth, the first part of the proffered testimony largely repeated the testimony actually submitted to the jury, as quoted above, and likewise repeated the testimony of Drs. Gatewood and Schneck. (See 22R 1968-1969).

In the remainder of the proffer, Dr. Crown testified that the injury occurred after the thirty-fourth week of pregnancy, that the injury occurred at the Hospital (<u>i.e.</u>, during the labor and delivery), and that his opinion was based on a determination that Jacob's brain as a whole had fully developed. (22R 1970-1972). He also explained that he determined the timing of Jacob's injuries by reviewing the medical records and looking at scores from the tests he conducted. (22R 1969). These last statements were, substantively, the only "additional" part of Dr. Crown's testimony proffered at trial. (22R 1967-1972).

After closing arguments, the trial court instructed the jury (40R 4429-4446), which then began its deliberations. The jury returned a verdict finding no liability on the part of Dr. Grenitz or the Hospital's non-physician personnel. (8R 1408-1410). The jury was not called upon to identify in its verdict whether the "no liability" verdict rested on a finding that (1) the injury did not occur at the time of Jacob's birth and was therefore not caused by any of the complained-of conduct by defendants; or (2) the treatment provided by Dr. Grenitz and the nurses at the time of labor and delivery was above the standard of care, notwithstanding any injury that might have occurred at that time. (8R 1408-1410).

The Tomlians appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (8R 1502-1509). On appeal, the Tomlians argued that the trial court erred in precluding Dr. Crown from further explaining why he believed Jacob's brain damage occurred during birth, rather than earlier in the pregnancy as contended by defendants. See Tomlian v. Grenitz, 782 So. 2d 905, 906 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

The Fourth District reversed the jury verdict for defendants and remanded the case for a new trial. The district court acknowledged that Florida law at the time of the trial, as established by its own earlier decision in Executive Car & Truck Leasing, Inc. v. DeSerio, 468 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 1985), precluded psychologists such as Dr. Crown from testifying as to the cause of brain damage. Id. However, after the trial but before the decision on appeal in this case, the Fourth District receded from DeSerio, and held that psychologists are not precluded from testifying as to the cause of brain injury. Id. (citing Broward County School Bd. v. Cruz, 761 So. 2d 388 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), approved on other grounds, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S571 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2001)).1

The only issues presented to this Court in <u>Cruz</u> were whether filial consortium should be limited to the minority years, whether the trial court had abused its discretion in refusing a defense request to have a neurologist examine the plaintiff and the scope of any new trial. The Fourth District's departure from <u>DeSerio</u> was not an issue raised on review by the parties in <u>Cruz</u>, and this Court's opinion in

The defendants argued on appeal that reversal based on any claimed error in excluding portions of Dr. Crown's testimony was precluded by the two issue rule. Two issues, negligence and causation, had been submitted to the jury, but it could not be determined from the general verdict form whether the jury found no negligence, or, if there was negligence, found it did not cause Jacob's injury (which defendants argued had occurred earlier in the pregnancy). 782 So. 2d at 907. The Fourth District rejected that argument, holding that "the two-issue rule applies only to actions brought on two theories of liability" and "does not apply where there is only one cause of action." Id.

The defendants had also argued to the Fourth District that any error by the trial court was harmless. Defendants pointed out that Dr. Crown had in fact testified to his opinion, based on his review of the medical records and evaluation of Jacob, that Jacob's brain injury resulted from oxygen deprivation at the time of birth. (see, e.g., Hospital 4th DCA Ans. Br. at 7-9).

Defendants also asserted that the excluded testimony was purely cumulative. Even before Dr. Crown took the stand, Drs. Gatewood and Schneck--both medical doctors--had already

that case does not mention that issue.

testified at length on their opinion that a hypoxic injury occurred during birth and did not occur earlier. Accordingly, defendants argued that the exclusion of the additional testimony proffered by Dr. Crown was not prejudicial in the light of all the evidence on causation that did come not only from Dr. Crown but also the Tomlians' medical experts. (see, e.g., Hospital 4th DCA Ans. Br. at 9-10).

The Fourth District, however, rejected these arguments as well, stating that the "specific" testimony Dr. Crown proffered as to why, based on the facts, Jacob's injury could not have happened before birth was not cumulative of the testimony of plaintiffs' other experts. 782 So. 2d at 907.

Defendants moved for rehearing. They pointed out that under this Court's opinion in <u>Barth v. Khubani</u>, 748 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1999), the two issue rule analysis in defense-verdict cases must focus on the existence of multiple theories of defense. (<u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Hospital 4th DCA Rehearing Motion at 7). The district court's decision, however, had refused to apply the two issue rule to uphold the defense verdict in this case, on the stated ground that only one theory of liability had been presented to the jury. Thus, defendants urged that the district court had employed precisely the misdirected focus disapproved by this Court in <u>Barth</u>. (<u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Hospital 4th DCA Rehearing Motion at 10-11).

Defendants also pointed out that the evidence they had presented to the jury had gone beyond simply denying that any negligence on their part had caused Jacob's injury. (Id. at 3-6). Defendants had presented affirmative evidence of an alternative mechanism of causation occurring in utero long before the delivery. This evidence was presented in accordance with the Hospital's affirmative defense that "any injury to the Plaintiffs . . . was caused by maternal/paternal factors . . and other such factors over which this answering defendant had no control." (Hospital 4th DCA Rehearing Motion at 3; 1R 32, ¶ 11).

Moreover, evidence was presented by all defendants of a harmful fetal condition known as periventricular leukomalacia (PVL)--damage to the white matter of a developing fetal brain (Hospital 4th DCA Rehearing Motion at 3; 23R 2181, 2201). The PVL was shown by MRI prenatally, and was the most common cause of the symptoms of palsy (or spastic periparesis or diplegia) that Jacob Tomlian exhibited. (Hospital 4th DCA Rehearing Motion at 3; 23R 2183, 2175-76, 2185; see also 18R 1401-02).

The plaintiffs in response argued that this evidence and argument did not represent an "affirmative" defense, but was in effect merely a denial of the existence of causation, and noted that the defendants did not ask that the jury be charged on this issue as an affirmative defense. Plaintiffs argued

that it accordingly could not be a basis for application of the two issue rule. The Fourth District denied rehearing, without explanation.

This Court granted review based upon the conflict created by the Fourth District's decision with the Second District's decision in <u>GIW Southern Valve Co. v. Smith</u>, 471 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) and the First District's decision in <u>Bishop v. Baldwin Acoustical & Drywall</u>, 696 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), and other cases.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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