IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. SC01-1260 & SC01-1259

District Court Case No. 4D00-654

HUMANA OF FLORIDA, INC., d/b/a/ HUMANA HOSPITAL-BENNETT, n/k/a COLUMBIA HOSPITAL CORPORATION OF SOUTH BROWARD d/b/a WESTSIDE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,

Petitioner,

vs.

JACOB THOMAS TOMLIAN, a minor, by and through his parents and natural guardians, DORA LEE TOMLIAN, and KEVIN JAMES TOMLIAN; and DORA LEE TOMLIAN and KEVIN JAMES TOMLIAN, individually,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TODD R. SCHWARTZ, ESQ.

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

Defendants' analogy to this Court's FRYE jurisprudence is also misplaced. FRYE is concerned with the <u>reliability</u> of novel scientific methods and techniques, not the <u>qualifications</u> vel non of the expert. HADDEN v. STATE, 690 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1997). This Court has consistently held that expert qualification determinations are governed by the flexible standards of §90.702, Fla.Stat. <u>See e.g.</u> TERRY v. STATE, 668 So. 2d 954, 960 (Fla. 1996); BROOKS v. STATE, 762 So. 2d 879, 892 (Fla. 2000); <u>and see RAMIREZ v. STATE, 651 So. 2d 1164, 1167 (Fla. 1995) (confirming</u> that FRYE reliability inquiry and Rule 702 witness competency inquiry are distinct considerations).8

In advocating this Court's adoption of the DESERIO blanket rule of exclusion, Defendants surprisingly do not deign to mention that virtually every court that has addressed the issue has flatly rejected such an arbitrary rule. Indeed, at least twenty courts, including seven supreme courts, have done so on the very same bases employed by the unanimous, en banc Fourth District court in CRUZ when it receded from DESERIO: the broad standards of qualification codified in Rule of Evidence 702 and state statutes expounding the authorized practice of psychology and neuropsychology consistent with the recognized advancement of those disciplines. See e.g. HUNTOON v. TCI CABLEVISION OF COLO., INC., 969 P.2d 681, 689, 91 (Colo. 1998) (psychologist qualified to testify as to cause of organic brain injury based upon his education, background, training, and tests he administered to plaintiff); HUTCHINSON v. AMERICAN FAMILY MUT. INS. CO., 514 N.W.2d 882, 887-9 (Iowa 1994) (same; high court refused "to impose barriers to expert testimony other than the basic requirements of Iowa rule of evidence 702," which court noted "are too broad to allow distinctions based on whether or not a proposed expert belongs to a

⁸ As an academic matter, the FRYE "general acceptance" test can also hardly be viewed as a 'bright-line' jurisprudential tool as evidenced by its requirement of an evidentiary hearing in any given case and the steady stream of appeals from trial court FRYE determinations.

particular profession or has a particular degree."); VALIULIS v. SCHEFFELS, 547 N.E.2d 1289, 1296-7 (Ill. Ct. App. 1989) (neuropsychologist who had been called upon in many cases by medical doctors to assist in diagnosis of patients who had multiple sclerosis held competent to render opinion of causal connection between trauma suffered by plaintiff in accident and onset of multiple sclerosis: "Indeed, it would be somewhat anomalous to conclude that Dr. Housepion would not be qualified to testify about multiple sclerosis when the neurologists and psychiatrists who sought out his expertise and assistance in diagnosing the disease would most likely be qualified to do so."); MADRID v. UNIV. OF CALIF., 737 P.2d 74, 76-7 (N.Mex. 1987) (clinical psychologist qualified to testify to causal connection between employee's disability and his employment: "It consequently appears to us a curious proposition that the legislature has enough confidence in the competence of nonphysician health care providers to grant them licenses to practice their professions, and to authorize treatment by them to injured compensation claimants, but to have intended that those same health care providers be prohibited from testifying concerning the cause of injury which lies squarely within the areas of their competency."); CUNNINGHAM v. MONTGOMERY, 921 P.2d 1355, 1357 (Or. Ct. App. 1996) (en banc) (recognizing that "A neuropsychologist is a specialist in the area of clinical psychology, a discipline which focuses on the brain and behavioral relationships of

individuals who have brain impairment due to dementia, head injury or other kinds of brain disease.", and holding that proffered neuropsychologist should have been allowed to offer opinion that plaintiff suffered hypoxia that caused cognitive damage as a result of the defendant dentist's use of nitrous oxide during office procedure); SHILLING v. MOBILE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, INC., 602 N.E.2d 1154 (Ohio 1992) (psychologist/neurotoxicologist held qualified to render opinion that ingestion of gasoline caused injury to plaintiffs' brains although witness not a medical doctor); FABIANKE v. WEAVER, 527 So. 2d 1253, 1256-7 (Ala. 1988) (neuropsychologist's opinion, that premature infant whose birth was negligently induced but who tested negative for learning disabilities nevertheless remained at risk for such disabilities in the future as a result of respiratory distress occasioned at birth, held competent and admissible); SANCHEZ v. DERBY, 433 N.W.2d 523 (Neb. 1989) (neuropsychologist qualified to testify that plaintiff's behavioral changes may have been due to organicaffective disorder secondary to a mild subcortical brain injury from automobile accident at issue; opinion based upon interviews, tests, and medical history "which ultimately resulted in a diagnosis based on the expertise of this witness."); ADAMSON v. CHIOVARO, 705 A.2d 402 (N.J. Ct. App. 1998) (neuropsychologist with Ph.D. but no medical degree could opine that cognitive defects plaintiff suffered were causally linked to automobile accident; expert had diploma in neuropsychology,

extensive clinical practice and taught at medical hospital); MEANS v. GATES, 2001 WL1661582 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001) (neuropsychologist competent to opine that plaintiff's chronic pain resulted from injuries sustained in automobile accident); DUPONT HOSP. FOR CHILDREN v. PIERCE, 2001 WL755326,*6,*7 (Del. Ct. App.) (psychologist competent to testify to causal relation between industrial accident disability), aff'd., 2001 WL1586824 (Del. 2001); SENECA FALLS and GREENHOUSE & NURSERY v. LAYTON, 389 S.E.2d 184, 186-7 (Va. Ct. App. 1990) (neuropsychologist competent to opine that plaintiff's disability was caused directly by insecticide exposure); LANDERS v. CHRYSLER CORP., 963 S.W.2d 275 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997) (neuropsychologist qualified to testify to organic brain injury); TUCKER v. AT&T CORP., 794 F. Supp. 240 (W.D. Tenn. 1992) (psychologist competent to testify to medical causation in products liability suit claiming loss of hearing from noise heard over the phone); O'LOUGHLIN v. CIRCLE A CONSTRUCTION, 739 P.2d 347, 351-3 (Idaho 1987) (clinical psychologist competent to testify to causal connection between claimant's panic disorder and his employment);KINSEY v. KOLBER, 431 N.E.2d 1316, 1329-30 (Ill. Ct. App. 1982) (clinical psychologist who held doctorate of psychology, had studied brain functioning and behavior, taught classes for neurologists in brain function, and had extensive clinical practice, held competent to diagnose chronic organic brain syndrome; since

expert's "credentials and qualifications were so thoroughly established, the fact that he did not have a medical degree was no bar to his testimony.");McCLAIN v. WELKER, 761 A.2d 155, 156-8 (Pa. Ct. App. 2000) (psychologist competent to relate children's cognitive defects to lead paint poisoning), <u>rev. den.</u>, 771 A.2d 1286 (Pa. 2001); NICHOLS v. COLONIAL BEACON OIL CO., 132 N.Y.S.2d 72, 76 (N.Y. App. Div. 1954) (neuropsychologist 25 years in practice qualified to relate delirium tremens to hernia operation).

Contrary decisions comprising the so-called "minority view" have since been superseded by amended state statutes recognizing the expanded practice of psychology and neuropsychology in those jurisdictions. <u>See</u> DRAKE v. LaRUE CONSTR. CO., 451 S.E.2d 792, 793 (Ga. Ct. App. 1995) (neuropsychologist's causation testimony admitted pursuant to amended statute defining practice of neuropsychology); HOOPER v. IND. COMM. OF ARIZONA, 617 P.2d 538, 539 (Ariz. 1980) (same); <u>and compare MARTIN v. BENSON, 481 S.E.2d 292, 295-6</u> (N.C. Ct. App. 1997) (acknowledging that Rule 702 would allow causation testimony by neuropsychologist, but excluding such testimony as invading the realm reserved for the practice of medicine because: "There is no statute specifically defining the practice of 'neuropsychology' in our State . . . The privileges and limits of the psychology profession are primarily matters to be determined by our legislature. Any expansion

of such privileges must be made by legislative enactment, not court decision."), <u>rev'd</u> <u>on other grounds</u>, 500 S.E.2d 664 (N.C. 1998), <u>with N.C. Sess. Laws 1999-292 §1,2</u> (amending §90-270.2(7a), N.C. Gen. Stat., specifically to add definition of "neuropsychology" which includes authorized determinations of "etiology").

The Florida Legislature's amendment of the Psychological Services Act post-DESERIO gives patent recognition to the competency of psychologists and neuropsychologists on the subject matter at issue, Defendants' deconstruction of the statute notwithstanding. Section 490.003(4), Fla. Stat. (2001), plainly states:

The ethical practice of psychology includes, <u>but is not limited to</u>, psychological testing and the evaluation or assessment of personal characteristics such as <u>intelligence</u>, personality, <u>abilities</u>, interests, <u>aptitudes</u>, and <u>neuropsychological functioning</u>, . . . and use of psychological methods to diagnose and treat <u>mental</u>, nervous, <u>psychological</u>, marital, or emotional <u>disorders</u>, <u>illness</u>, or <u>disability</u>. . . as well as the <u>psychological aspects of physical illness</u>, <u>accident</u>, <u>injury</u> or <u>disability</u>, including <u>neuropsychological evaluation</u>, <u>diagnosis</u>, <u>prognosis</u>, <u>etiology</u>, and <u>treatment</u>. [e.s.]

In the instant case, Barry Crown, Ph.D., an eminently credentialed neuropsychologist with 29 years of academic and clinical experience in brain injury, mental retardation, and cerebral palsy, and the Head of Neuropsychology at Miami Children's Hospital, extensively evaluated and tested Jacob Tomlian and was arguably the <u>most competent</u> witness in this case to relate Jacob's personal and functional - - i.e., psychological and neuropsychological - - disabilities to the period in utero when

those disabilities would have been triggered. Unlike neurologists and other 'medical doctors', neuropsychologists objectively test brain function and establish its relation to human aptitude, ability, and behavior.

Dr. Crown extensively tested Jacob and objectively found certain functions and tasks which Jacob was able to perform remarkably well and which, Dr. Crown explained, Jacob would have been unable to replicate had the insult to his brain occurred in the earlier gestational period advocated by Defendants. As Dr. Crown noted, the regions of the brain which control those functions and tasks are the very last to develop, and were obviously and completely developed in Jacob's case. In contrast Jacob scored in the lowest possible percentile on other tasks, further confirming an abrupt impairment rather than an early developmental delay. This was credible, graphic testimony arrived at through empirical testing rather than statistical supposition or general deductions from an MRI. Dr. Crown's significant and unique testimony would have potentially met Defendants' causation expert, Dr. Vannucci's, erudite opinions concerning "white matter" injury and his reliance upon a formidable statistic that injuries like Jacob's are most often observed several weeks before birth. It is anomalous to suggest that Dr. Crown is authorized by law to diagnose and treat children with such disabilities and deficits and to determine their etiology, and that physicians are educated by and refer patients to Dr. Crown for such determinations,

but that Dr. Crown is nevertheless unqualified to explain these matters in court.

Although Dr. Crown's excluded opinions did not concern the medical *cause*, but rather only the *timing*, of Jacob's functional deficits, this case nevertheless demonstrates the hazards and shortcomings of a 'bright-line' rule denouncing the competency of a whole category of professionals on a given subject matter. Presented with the blanket prohibition of DESERIO which afforded him no measure of discretion, the trial judge in this case supinely precluded an indisputably highly qualified expert from rendering critically relevant and illuminating opinions which were clearly within the realm of his expertise and everyday practice. This Court should not adopt the arbitrary and unreasonable DESERIO rule, and the conflict cases should be disapproved to the extent they follow it.

II. THE TWO-ISSUE RULE DOES NOT APPLY IN THIS CASE.

As Judge Farmer noted in his concurring opinion below, 782 So. 2d at 908, Dr. Crown's excluded opinions as to the *timing* of Jacob's injuries in this medical malpractice case went to the elements of both negligence and causation. Plaintiffs' claim was that Defendants subjected Jacob to an ill-fated trial of labor and failed timely to rescue him when he was in distress. If Plaintiffs are correct, the timing of Jacob's oxygen deprivation rendered Defendants negligent <u>and</u> established proximate cause. Accordingly, and as Judge Farmer observed, "we can tell from the defense verdict that

the error was prejudicial." Id.

As an academic matter, this Court has never held that the two-issue rule applies in a case where the two issues involve two elements of a single cause of action. In LOBUE v. TRAVELERS INS. CO., 388 So. 2d 1349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), one of the conflict cases at issue in BARTH v. KHUBANI, 748 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1999), the Fourth District specifically rejected such an application of the rule:

For instance, the appellees assert that appellant has failed to demonstrate *reversible* error because the jury may have rejected her claim of negligence and never considered the issue of permanent injury or damages as required by the no fault statute. We do not believe this calls for the application of the two-issue rule enunciated in *Colonial Stores, Inc. v. Scarbrough*, 355 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1978). Here, the appellant's claim was not predicated on multiple theories of responsibility and we do not believe the rule should be extended to require a claimant to specifically demonstrate the precise element of the cause of action the jury found lacking. To do so would require the use of an interrogatory type verdict in all cases detailing the elements of the claim and the defenses thereto. We do not believe this was contemplated by the Supreme Court in *Scarbrough, supra*.

388 So. 2d at 1351-2 fn.3 [emphasis the court's].

In BARTH, this Court approved that specific holding of LOBUE:

Although we disapprove of the conflict cases to the extent they employ a misdirected focus in their application of the 'two issue rule,' we do not disapprove of them to the extent they hold or explain that the rule does not apply where there is only one cause of action or one separate and distinct defense theory. *See, e.g. Lobue,* 388 So. 2d at 1351-52 n.3 (stating that "we do not believe the rule should be extended to require a claimant to specifically demonstrate the precise element of the cause of action the jury found lacking").

BARTH, 748 So. 2d at 262 n.7. <u>See also</u> GALLAGHER v. COOPER, 471 N.E.2d 468, 469-70 (Ohio 1984) (holding that issues of negligence and proximate cause do not invoke the two-issue rule: " and with good reason - - proximate cause is an *element* of negligence. Proximate cause and negligence are *not* complete and independent issues." [emphasis the court's]); McCRYSTAL v. TRUMBULL MEMORIAL HOSP., 684 N.E.2d 721, 728 (Ohio Ct. App. 1996) (same).⁹

Defendants' parting suggestion, that they also raised 'defense theories' that Jacob's injuries were caused either by maternal/paternal factors or periventricular leukomalacia which occurred long before his birth, fails for the same reason. Whether deemed affirmative defenses or 'defense theories', same inarguably were not "separate and distinct" defenses or theories as required by BARTH, 748 So. 2d at 262. Rather, they related directly to the timing of Jacob's injuries and their cause - - the very subject of Dr. Crown's excluded testimony. The two-issue rule does not apply in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and upon the authorities cited, Respondents respectfully suggest that the conflict cases be disapproved to the extent they follow

⁹ In BARTH, this Court reminded that it adopted the two-issue rule from the same Ohio case law. 748 So. 2d at 262.

DESERIO, and the decision of the Fourth District in this case should be affirmed.